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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QATAR GENERAL 

INSURANCE & REINSURANCE COMPANY PJSC 

 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qatar General Insurance & Reinsurance Company PJSC 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 

cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and its consolidated financial performance 

and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 

Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the 

ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the State of Qatar, and 

we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 

provided in that context. 

 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included 

the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to 

address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

We identified the following key audit matters: 

 

a) Valuation of investment properties 

 

The Group records its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The fair values are determined by external valuators appointed 

by the management. These valuations are based on estimates such as estimated rental revenues, occupancy rates, 

discount rates and market indicators.  

 

Since investment properties represent 63% of the total assets of the Group, and its valuation involves computations 

dependent on estimates, we consider the valuation of investment properties as a key audit matter. 
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Key Audit Matters (continued) 

 

a) Valuation of investment properties (continued) 

 

Our audit procedures over valuation of investment properties included the following: 

 Evaluated the objectivity, independence and expertise of the external valuators appointed by the 

management. 

 Tested the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data used as inputs for the valuation. 

 Involved our internal specialist to evaluate the resonableness of the underlying assumptions used by the 

valuator by comparing the assumptions used to internal and external data.  

 Assessed the adequacy and completeness of the disclosures on the valuation of investment properties, 

presented in Note 5 of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

b) Estimation of provision for reported claims by policyholder, and valuation of Incurred But Not Reported 

Reserve 

 

The Group’s provision for reported claims by policyholders and incurred but not reported reserve (IBNR) represent 

22% of the total liabilities. 

 

The provision for reported claims by policyholders recorded by the Group comprises of the total value of individual 

outstanding claims estimated by internal or external loss adjusters when a claim has been initiated. These estimates 

are reassessed during the various stages of the claim processing cycle and are revised based on changes in specific 

circumstances pertaining to each claim. 

The IBNR recorded by the Group represents an estimate of the liability for a claim-generating event that has taken 

place during the year but has not yet been reported to the Group as of 31 December 2016. IBNR is calculated at the 

reporting date based on the computations performed by an external actuary appointed by the management, after 

considering historical claim trends, empirical data and current assumptions that may include a margin for adverse 

deviations. 

 

Due to the magnitude of the balances and the estimation uncertainty and subjectivity involved in the assesment of 

these reserves we have considered the valuation of the provision for reported claims by policyholders and IBNR as 

a key audit matter. Further, the measurement  of  these insurance contract liabilities involves significant  judgment  

over uncertain future outcomes, mainly the  ultimate  total  settlement  value  of  the insurance  contract liabilities, 

including  any  guarantees  provided  to policyholders. 

 

Provision for reported claims by policyholders: 

Our audit procedures over the provision for reported claims by policyholders included the following: 

 Tested controls over the intiation, review and  approval of the claim process across the different lines of 

business including the claim settlement process.  

 Evaluated the provision for reported claims by policyholder recorded by management by reviewing the 

loss adjusters reports, internal policies for reserves and other assumptions made by management. 

 Performed a substantive analytical review on the movements in the provision for reported claims by 

policyholders during the year. 

 Tested the adequacy and completeness of the disclosures on the provision for reported claims by 

policyholders, presented in Note 20 of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Incurred but not reported reserve (IBNR): 

Our audit procedures over IBNR included the following: 

 Evaluated the objectivity, independence and expertise of the actuarial valuator appointed by management. 

 Verified the data used by external actuary to the actuarial exhibits and verified that the data on which the 

estimate is based is accurate and complete. 

 Involved our internal specialist to verify the computation and evaluate the methodology and assumptions 

used by the actuary by comparision to generally accepted industry practices.  

 Tested the adequacy and completeness of the disclosures on the IBNR, presented in Note 20 of the 

consolidated financial statements. 
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Other information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 

be materially misstated.  

 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein we are required to 

communicate the matter (s) with those charged with governance. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRSs and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

The Board Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Group’s internal control. 

 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with the Board Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

 

We also provide the Board Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

 

From the matters communicated with the Board Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were most of 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosures 

about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 

in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 

interest benefits of such communication. 

 

Report on Legal and Other Regulatory Matters 

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Group and the consolidated financial 

statements comply with the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 11 of 2015, the applicable provisions of Qatar 

Central Bank Law No. 13 of 2012 and the Company's Articles of Association.  We have obtained all the information 

and explanations we required for the purpose of our audit, and are not aware of any violations of the above 

mentioned laws or the Company’s Articles of Association having occurred during the year, which might have had 

a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position or performance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ziad Nader 

of Ernst & Young 

Auditor's Registration No. 258 

 

Date: 15 February 2017 

Doha 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2016   
 

     2016   2015 

  Notes   QR '000   QR '000 

      

Assets          

Property and equipment 4   104,013  84,582 

Investment properties 5   6,064,376  5,936,607 

Investment in associates 6   345,225  324,749 

Financial assets:       

Available-for-sale financial assets 7   1,016,777  1,057,424 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8   164,129  167,618 

Receivables from related parties 38 (b)   252  940 

Insurance receivables 9   234,089  201,399 

Reinsurance assets 10   779,723  859,870 

Takaful participants' assets 11 (a)   296,495  281,001 

Other assets 12   243,009  264,879 

Cash and bank balances 13   303,287  231,202 

      

Total assets    9,551,375  9,410,271 

         

Equity and liabilities        

Equity        

Issued share capital 14   875,067   795,515 

Retained earnings    4,421,367   4,431,958 

Legal reserve 15   558,904   533,079 

Revaluation reserves 16   512,599   529,693 

      

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent    6,367,937   6,290,245 

Non-controlling interests 19   41,122   2,209 

      

Total equity    6,409,059   6,292,454 

         

Liabilities        

Insurance contract liabilities 20   1,038,757   1,101,580 

Financial liabilities:        

Loans and borrowings 21   1,270,651   1,172,590 

Derivative financial instruments 22   19,820   28,515 

Payables to related parties 38 (b)   81,992   57,461 

Insurance payables 23   231,279   241,185 

Employees' end-of-service benefits 24   37,744   33,942 

Takaful participants' liabilities 11 (a)   296,495   281,001 

Other liabilities 25   165,578   201,543 

      

Total liabilities    3,142,316   3,117,817 

      

Total equity and liabilities    9,551,375   9,410,271 

 
 

......................................................................   ......................................................................   

Nasser Bin Ali Bin Saud Al Thani Jamal Kamel Abu Nahl 

Chairman and Managing Director Chief Executive Officer and Board Member 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016 
 

    2016   2015 

  Notes  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Gross written premiums 27 (a)  629,949  627,256 

Change in unearned premiums provision 27 (a)  (33,627)  (34,319) 

      

Gross earned premiums 27 (a)  596,322  592,937 

Premiums ceded to reinsurers 27 (b)  (392,661)  (405,776) 

      

Net earned premiums   203,661  187,161 

       

Fees and commission income 28  13,438  22,823 

Investment income 29  236,534  245,916 

Net realised gains (losses) 30  18,336  (2,392) 

Fair value gains 31  56,600  746,494 

Income from construction activities   34,406  10,592 

Other operating revenue 32  74,550  16,367 

      

Other revenue   433,864  1,039,800 

       

Total revenue   637,525  1,226,961 

       

Gross claims paid 33 (a)  (314,417)  (218,147) 

Claims ceded to reinsurers 33 (b)  205,739  112,837 

Gross change in insurance contract liabilities 33 (c)  96,450  (297,940) 

Change in insurance contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers 33 (d)  (102,665)  293,320 

      

Net claims   (114,893)  (109,930) 

       

Finance costs 34  (47,993)  (42,883) 

Cost of construction activities   (29,161)  (10,981) 

Other operating and administrative expenses 35  (189,251)  (156,240) 

      

Other expenses   (266,405)  (210,104) 

      

Total expenses   (381,298)  (320,034) 

      

Profit before share of profits of associates   256,227  906,927 

Share of profits of associates 6  2,027  18,877 

      

Profit for the year   258,254  925,804 

      

Profit attributable to:      

Equity holders of the Parent   219,341  925,709 

Non-controlling interests   38,913  95 

      

   258,254  925,804 

Earnings per share      

Basic and diluted profit for the year attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the Parent (in Qatari Riyals per share) 36  2.51  10.58 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

 

    2016   2015 

  Note  QR '000   QR '000 

         

Profit for the year   258,254  925,804 

      

Other comprehensive loss      

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 6  (5,021)  (53,404) 

Net gain on cash flow hedge   8,695  6,338 

Net loss on available-for-sale financial assets   (20,768)  (122,160) 

      

Other comprehensive loss for the year   (17,094)  (169,226) 

      

Total comprehensive income for the year   241,160  756,578 

      

Total comprehensive income attributable to:      

Equity holders of the Parent   202,247  756,483 

Non-controlling interests   38,913  95 

      

   241,160  756,578 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016 
 

 

  Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent     

                     

        Revaluation reserves       

    

Issued 

share 

capital   

Retained 

earnings   

Legal 

reserve   

Available-

for-sale 

financial 

assets   

Revaluation 

surplus   

Cash flow 

hedge   

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve   

Total 

ordinary 

shareholders' 

equity   

Non-

controlling 

interests   

Total 

equity 

  Notes QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000 

                                          

At 1 January 2016    795,515  4,431,958  533,079  617,951  77,355  (28,515)  (137,098)  6,290,245  2,209  6,292,454 

                     

Profit for the year   -  219,341  -  -  -  -  -  219,341  38,913  258,254 

Other comprehensive (loss) income -  -  -  (20,768)  -  8,695  (5,021)  (17,094)  -  (17,094) 

                     

Total comprehensive income (loss) -  219,341  -  (20,768)  -  8,695  (5,021)  202,247  38,913  241,160 

                     

Bonus shares issued  14 79,552  (79,552)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Transfer to legal reserve 15 -  (25,825)  25,825  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Shareholders dividends 17 -  (119,327)  -  -  -  -  -  (119,327)  -  (119,327) 

Contribution to social and 

sports activities fund 18 -  (5,228)  -  -  -  -  -  (5,228)  -  (5,228) 

                     

At 31 December 2016  875,067  4,421,367  558,904  597,183  77,355  (19,820)  (142,119)  6,367,937  41,122  6,409,059 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

 

 

  Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent     

                     

        Revaluation reserves       

    

Issued 
share 

capital   

Retained 

earnings   

Legal 

reserve   

Available-

for-sale 
financial 

assets   

Revaluation 

surplus   

Cash flow 

hedge   

Foreign 

currency 
translation 

reserve   

Total 

ordinary 
shareholders

' equity   

Non-
controlling 

interests   

Total 

equity 

  Notes QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000 

                                          

At 1 January 2015    691,753  3,844,630  440,499  740,111  77,355  (34,853)  (83,694)  5,675,801  2,114  5,677,915 

                     

Profit for the year   -  925,709  -  -  -  -  -  925,709  95  925,804 

Other comprehensive (loss) income -  -  -  (122,160)  -  6,338  (53,404)  (169,226)  -  (169,226) 

                     

Total comprehensive income (loss) -  925,709  -  (122,160)  -  6,338  (53,404)  756,483  95  756,578 

                     

Bonus shares issued  14 103,762  (103,762)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Transfer to legal reserve 15 -  (92,580)  92,580  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Shareholders dividends 17 -  (138,351)  -  -  -  -  -  (138,351)  -  (138,351) 

Contribution to social and 

sports activities fund 18 -  (3,688)  -  -  -  -  -  (3,688)  -  (3,688) 

                     

At 31 December 2015  795,515  4,431,958  533,079  617,951  77,355  (28,515)  (137,098)  6,290,245  2,209  6,292,454 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

 

     2016   2015 

  Notes   QR '000   QR '000 

         

Operating activities           

Profit for the year     258,254  925,804 

Adjustment for:        

Net change in operating assets 37   69,731  (334,304) 

Net change in operating liabilities 37   (89,391)  353,328 
      

Non-cash items included in profit for the year:        

Fair value gains 31   (56,600)  (746,494) 

Impairment recoveries  35  (1,392)  (1,089) 

Share of profits of associates 6   (2,027)  (18,877) 

(Gain) loss from sale of property and equipment   (216)  11 

Gain from sale of investment in associates 30  (1,314)  (3,961) 

Depreciation of property and equipment 4   8,409  7,989 

Amortization of intangible asset 35  1,676  977 

Employees' end of service benefits     3,802  (136) 

      

Net cash flows from operating activities     190,932  183,248 

        

Investing activities        

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 3  -  (88,938) 

Purchase of property and equipment 4   (28,263)  (7,191) 

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   639  - 

Purchase of investment properties 5  (78,637)  (108,193) 

Proceeds from sale of investment in associates   1,314  3,961 

Dividends received from associates 6  11,577  11,294 

Purchase of additional shares in associates 6   (34,229)  -    

Net movement in available-for-sale financial assets   19,061  5,421 

Net movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  10,957  -    

      

Net cash flows used in investing activities     (97,581)  (183,646) 

        

Financing activities        

Net movement in term loans     142,852  (94,820) 

Finance costs on term loans 34   (45,550)  (40,748) 

Dividends paid to equity holders of the Parent    (119,327)  (138,351) 

      

Net cash flows used in financing activities    (22,025)  (273,919) 

        

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     71,326  (274,317) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January     229,250  503,567 

      

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 13   300,576  229,250 

         

Operational cash flows from interest and dividends        

Interest paid 34   45,841  41,026 

Interest received    17,305  16,340 

Dividend received    36,543  47,561 
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1         CORPORATE INFORMATION  

 

Qatar General Insurance & Reinsurance Company PJSC (the “Company” or the “Parent Company”) is a public 

shareholding company incorporated by Emiri Decree No. 52 of 1978 under commercial registry number 7200 and 

governed by the provisions of the Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law No. 11 of 2015 and ble provisionsthe applica  

of Qatar Central Bank Law No. 13 of 2012. The Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) 

are engaged in the business of general insurance and reinsurance including Islamic Takaful insurance, real estate, 

investment, and contracting. The shares of the Company are listed on the Qatar Exchange.  

 

The Company has seven local branches in Qatar and one overseas branch in United Arab Emirates (in Dubai). The 

consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and the 

Group’s interest in the associates. The subsidiaries are: 

 

Name of the subsidiary Ownership 
Country of 

incorporation 
Principal activities 

Qatar General Holding 

Company W.L.L. 
100% State of Qatar Investments management of the Group. 

General Takaful Company 

W.L.L. 
100% State of Qatar Islamic insurance. 

General Real Estate Company 

W.L.L. 
100% State of Qatar Real estate investment and management. 

World Trade Center – Qatar 

W.L.L. 
100% State of Qatar 

Hospitality, exihibition and events 

management. 

Mozoon Insurance Marketing 

Services W.L.L. 
100% State of Qatar Insurance marketing services. 

General Tower for Real Estate 

Investments W.L.L. 
100% State of Qatar Real estate investment and development. 

Orientals Enterprises W.L.L. 100% State of Qatar Contracting and construction. 

General Company for Water 

and Beverages W.L.L.  
60% State of Qatar Water bottling and beverages trading. 

Mozoon Real Estate Company 

W.L.L. 
50% State of Qatar Real estate investment and development. 

 

These consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 were authorized for 

issue by the Board of Directors on 15 February 2017. 

 

 

2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Basis of preparation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and applicable provisions of the Qatar Commercial Companies' Law No. 11 of 2015 and the 

applicable provisions of Qatar Central Bank Law No. 13 of 2012. 

 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the following 

material items in the consolidated statement of financial position that have been measured at fair value: 

 

- derivative financial instruments 

- non derivative financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss 

- available-for-sale financial assets 

- investment properties 

 

The methods used to measure fair values are disclosed within this note. 

 

The Group presents its consolidated statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis 

regarding utilisation or settlement of assets and liabilities, within 12 months after the reporting date (current) and 

more than 12 months after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in Note 41. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Basis of preparation (continued) 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyal (QR), which is the Group’s functional currency. 

All financial information presented in Qatari Riyal has been rounded to the nearest thousands (QR '000) except 

when otherwise indicated. 
 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that effect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. Estimates 

and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates. 

 

Information about critical judgements and significant areas of estimates in applying accounting policies that have 

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements are included under 

Note 42 and 43 respectively. 

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised. 

 

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures  

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the following:  
 

New and amended standards and interpretations 

The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or 

amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 

 

The nature and the impact of each new standard or amendment is described below. Although these new standards 

and amendments were applied for the first time in 2016, they did not have a material impact on the annual 

consolidated financial statements of the Group.  

 

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate-regulation, to continue 

applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon its first-time adoption 

of IFRS. Entities that adopt IFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items on the 

statement of financial position and present movements in these account balances as separate line items in the 

statement of profit or loss and OCI.  

 

The standard requires disclosure of the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the 

effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements. Since the Group is an existing IFRS preparer and is not 

involved in any rate-regulated activities, this standard does not apply. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint 

operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, must apply the relevant IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations principles for business combination accounting. The amendments also clarify that a previously held 

interest in a joint operation is not re-measured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation 

if joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments 

do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the 

same ultimate controlling party. 

 

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any 

additional interests in the same joint operation and are applied prospectively. These amendments do not have any 

impact on the Group as there has been no interest acquired in a joint operation during the year.  
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 

 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation  

The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets that 

revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is a 

part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based 

method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited 

circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are applied prospectively and do not have any impact 

on the Group, given that it has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets. 

 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants 

The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants. 

Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope 

of IAS 41 Agriculture. Instead, IAS 16 will apply. After initial recognition, bearer plants will be measured under 

IAS 16 at accumulated cost (before maturity) and using either the cost model or revaluation model (after maturity). 

The amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of IAS 41 measured 

at fair value less costs to sell.  

 

For government grants related to bearer plants, IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance will apply. The amendments are applied retrospectively and do not have any impact on the 

Group as it does not have any bearer plants.  

 

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 

The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 

and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the 

equity method in their separate financial statements have to apply that change retrospectively. These amendments 

do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle 

 

These improvements include: 

 

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 

Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to the owners. The 

amendment clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not be considered a new 

plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the application 

of the requirements in IFRS 5. This amendment is applied prospectively. 

 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

 

(i) Servicing contracts 

The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a 

financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for continuing 

involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of which servicing 

contracts constitute continuing involvement must be done retrospectively. However, the required disclosures need 

not be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which the entity first applies the amendments. 

 

(ii) Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial statements 

The amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure requirements do not apply to condensed interim financial 

statements, unless such disclosures provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual 

report. This amendment is applied retrospectively. 

 

IAS 19 Employee Benefits 

The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in 

which the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep 

market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used. This amendment is 

applied prospectively. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 

 

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle (continued) 

 

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or 

incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the 

interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report). The other information within the 

interim financial report must be available to users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and at the 

same time. This amendment is applied retrospectively. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group. 

 

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments 

clarify: 
 

- The materiality requirements in IAS 1 

- That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of financial position 

may be disaggregated 

- That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements 

- That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented 

in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently 

reclassified to profit or loss 
 

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the 

statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI. These amendments do not have any 

impact on the Group. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under IFRS 10 

Consolidated Financial Statements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting 

consolidated financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the 

investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value. Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that 

only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to 

the investment entity is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. The 

amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when applying the equity 

method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its 

interests in subsidiaries. These amendments are applied retrospectively and do not have any impact on the Group 

as the Group does not apply the consolidation exception. 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective 

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s 

financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they 

become effective. 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three 

aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 

accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application 

permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative information 

is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited 

exceptions. 

 

The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date. During 2016, the Group has performed a 

high-level impact assessment of all three aspects of IFRS 9. This preliminary assessment is based on currently 

available information and may be subject to changes arising from further detailed analyses or additional reasonable 

and supportable information being made available to the Group in the future. Overall, the Group expects no 

significant impact on its financial position and equity except for the effect of applying the impairment requirements 

of IFRS 9.   
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

(a) Classification and measurement 

The Group does not expect a significant impact on its financial position or equity on applying the classification and 

measurement requirements of IFRS 9. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all financial assets currently 

held at fair value. Quoted equity shares currently held as available-for-sale with gains and losses recorded in OCI 

will be measured at fair value through profit or loss instead, which will increase volatility in recorded profit or loss. 

The AFS reserve currently presented as accumulated OCI will be reclassified to opening retained earnings. Debt 

securities are expected to be measured at fair value through OCI under IFRS 9 as the Group expects not only to 

hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows but also to sell a significant amount on a relatively frequent basis. 

 

The equity shares in non-listed companies are intended to be held for the foreseeable future. The Group expects to 

apply the option to present fair value changes in OCI, and, therefore, believes the application of IFRS 9 would not 

have a significant impact. If the Group were not to apply that option, the shares would be held at fair value through 

profit or loss, which would increase the volatility of recorded profit or loss. 

 

Loans as well as receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give rise to cash flows 

representing solely payments of principal and interest. Thus, the Group expects that these will continue to be 

measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9. However, the Group will analyse the contractual cash flow characteristics 

of those instruments in more detail before concluding whether all those instruments meet the criteria for amortised 

cost measurement under IFRS 9. 

 

(b) Impairment 
IFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and receivables, either 

on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply the simplified approach and record lifetime expected 

losses on all receivables. The Group expects a significant impact on its equity due to unsecured nature of its loans 

and receivables, but it will need to perform a more detailed analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable 

information, including forward-looking elements to determine the extent of the impact. 

 

(c) Hedge accounting 

The Group believes that all existing hedge relationships that are currently designated in effective hedging 

relationships will still qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS 9. As IFRS 9 does not change the general principles 

of how an entity accounts for effective hedges, the Group does not expect a significant impact as a result of applying 

IFRS 9. The Group will assess possible changes related to the accounting for the time value of options, forward 

points or the currency basis spread in more detail in the future.  

 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 

with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an 

entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The new revenue standard 

will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full retrospective application or a 

modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early 

adoption is permitted. The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date using the full 

retrospective method. During 2016, the Group performed a preliminary assessment of IFRS 15, which is subject to 

changes arising from a more detailed ongoing analysis. Furthermore, the Group is considering the clarifications 

issued by the IASB in April 2016 and will monitor any further developments. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 

Joint Venture 

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary 

that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that the gain or loss resulting 

from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its 

associate or joint venture, is recognised in full. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that 

do not constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the 

associate or joint venture. The IASB has deferred the effective date of these amendments indefinitely, but an entity 

that early adopts the amendments must apply them prospectively. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments  

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and require an 

entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 

financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. On initial application of 

the amendment, entities are not required to provide comparative information for preceding periods. These 

amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early application permitted. 

Application of amendments will result in additional disclosure provided by the Group. 

 

IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses – Amendments  

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits 

against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the 

amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the 

circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. 

 

Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application of the amendments, 

the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognised in opening retained earnings 

(or in another component of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the change between opening retained 

earnings and other components of equity. Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact. These amendments 

are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early application permitted. If an entity 

applies the amendments for an earlier period, it must disclose that fact. These amendments are not expected to have 

any impact on the Group. 

 

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions — Amendments  

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effect of vesting 

conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based 

payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a 

modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash 

settled to equity settled. On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, 

but retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The 

amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. 

These amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

 

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 determining whether an arrangement 

contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 

Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation 

and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-financial position model 

similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for 

lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term 

of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease 

payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease 

term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease 

liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease 

liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments 

resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognise 

the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 

 

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will 

continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between two types 

of leases: operating and finance leases. IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures 

than under IAS 17. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application 

is permitted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full 

retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs. In 

2017, the Group plans to assess the potential effect of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied by the Group consistently to all periods presented in these 

consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group entities. 

 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 

31 December 2016. 

 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 

continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 

prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group 

balances, transactions, recognized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are 

eliminated in full. 

 

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if it results in a 

deficit balance. 

 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

 

- derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 

- derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests; 

- derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; 

- recognises the fair value of the consideration received; 

- recognises the fair value of any investment retained; 

- recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; 

- reclassifies the Parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to profit 

or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 

  

Business combinations and goodwill  

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as 

the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of 

any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure 

the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets.  

 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 

 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 

conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 

acquiree. 

 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope 

of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair 

value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 

amount recognised for non-controlling interests) and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 

transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities 

assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the 

reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 

transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Business combinations and goodwill (continued) 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 

impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of 

the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other 

assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is 

disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation 

when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 

relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

 

Investment in subsidiary companies 

Subsidiaries are defined as companies that are controlled by the Group, namely companies in which the Group has 

the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. 

 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Qatar General Insurance & Reinsurance 

Company PJSC and its subsidiary companies as at 31 December 2016. The financial statements of the subsidiary 

companies are prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. 

 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

 

One of the Group’s subsidiaries, General Takaful Company W.L.L., is an operator of Islamic insurance business 

operating under Islamic Shari’a principles. In accordance with applicable Shari’a principles, participants’ 

(policyholders’) funds are maintained separately from the operator’s (shareholders’) funds. Accordingly, the 

participants’ assets and liabilities including the fund balances are shown separately as Takaful participants’ assets 

and Takaful participants’ liabilities respectively in the consolidated statement of financial position as supplementary 

information. Takaful participants’ fund accounts comprising of statement of financial position and statement of 

profit or loss – policyholders is set out in Note 11. The Group manages the Takaful funds on behalf of the 

policyholders under the Hybrid model as an operator. 

 

The Hybrid model uses the principles of both Wakala and Mudaraba. Accordingly, the operator receives a fixed 

Wakala fee of 15% (2015: 15%) of gross written contributions, in addition to the 70% (2015: 70%) share in the 

investment gains on the policyholders’ contributions. The administrative costs of underwriting are covered by the 

Wakala fee and borne by the shareholders. 

 

Investment in associate companies 

Associate companies are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the 

financial and operating policies. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of total recognised 

gains and losses of associates on an equity accounted basis, from the date that significant influence commences 

until the date that significant influence ceases.  

 

All subsequent changes to the Group’s share of interest in the equity of the associate are recognised in the Group’s 

carrying amount of the investment. Changes resulting from the profit and loss generated by the associate are reported 

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and therefore affect net results of the Group. 

 

Amounts reported in the financial statements of associates have been adjusted where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with 

associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. 

 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that interest, including 

any long term investments, is reduced to zero and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the 

extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Investment in associate companies (continued) 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment 

loss on its investment in associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence 

that the investment in associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment 

as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the 

loss under ‘share of profits of associate’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

Foreign currency  

 

Foreign operations  

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of the foreign branch is 

expressed in the functional currency of the Parent Company at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. 

Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year unless exchange rates fluctuated 

significantly during the year in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Investment 

in foreign associates is translated at the closing exchange rates. Foreign currency translation differences are 

recognised directly in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is disposed of in part or full, the 

relevant amount in the reserve is transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the corresponding 

period. 

 

Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded in Qatari Riyals at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to Qatari 

Riyal at the exchange rate at that date.  

 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated 

to Qatari Riyal at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign 

currency that are measured based on historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at the date of the 

transactions. The resultant exchange differences are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

Financial instruments  
Financial instruments represent the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. Financial assets include cash and cash 

equivalents, insurance and other receivables, receivables from related parties, and reinsurance assets. Financial 

liabilities include insurance payables, loans and borrowings, derivative financial instruments, insurance contract 

liabilities, payables to related parties and other liabilities. 

 

Recognition 

The financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the date they are generated and on the date at which the Group 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets 

recorded at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

De-recognition 

The Group derecognises the financial asset when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from that asset expire 

or it transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flow of that asset in a transaction in which substantially all 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets are transferred.  

 

The Group also derecognizes certain assets when it expenses balances pertaining to assets deemed to be 

uncollectible. The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or expired. 

 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 

financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Segment reporting 

Segment results that are reported to senior management includes items directly attributable to a segment as well as 

those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets and head 

office expenses. For management purpose, the Group is organised into two business segments, insurance and 

investments. These segments are the basis on which the Group reports its operating segement information. No 

operating segment has been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segment of the Group. 

 

Measurement 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets  

The Group’s investments in equity securities, fund accounts and debt securities are classified as available-for-sale 

financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than 

impairment losses, and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale monetary items, are recognised directly 

in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve. 

 

When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss. All 

purchases and sales of investments are recognised at the settlement date. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

An instrument is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as such upon 

initial recognition. Financial instruments are held for trading if the Group manages such investments and makes 

purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s investment strategy. Upon 

initial recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Financial instruments 

at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of 

three months or less as on the consolidated statement of financial position date. For the purpose of the consolidated 

statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of 

outstanding bank overdrafts. 

 

Insurance and other receivables 

Insurance and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts 

are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when there is an objective evidence that the asset is 

impaired. 

 

Reinsurance assets 

The Group cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business. Reinsurance assets represent balances recoverable 

from reinsurance companies. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the 

outstanding claims provision or settled claims associated with the reinsurers’ policies and are in accordance with 

the related reinsurance contract. 

 

Insurance contract liabilities 

Insurance contract liabilities include the outstanding claims provision, provision for claims incurred but not reported 

and the provision for unearned premium.  

 

Amounts payable for insurance claims reported up to the reporting period end and the amounts payable to 

reinsurance companies are accrued as a provision for outstanding claims. The insurance claims are accrued on the 

basis of the actual losses reported against the policies underwritten by the Group during the year.  

 

Provision for claims incurred but not reported are computed based on actuarial review after considering current 

assumptions, historical trends and empirical data which is not discounted for the time value of money.  

 

Unearned premiums represent the portion of net premiums written relating to the unexpired period of coverage 

calculated on the actual number of days method (daily pro rata basis). The change in the provision for unearned 

premium is taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the order that revenue is recognised over the 

period of risk.  
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Measurement (continued) 

 

Loans and borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly 

attributable transaction costs. After the initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when 

liabilities are derecognised.  

 

Others 
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, 

less any impairment losses. 

 

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group uses interest rate swap contracts to hedge its risk associated with interest rate fluctuations relating to the 

interest payments on the Group’s term loan. These interest rate swap contracts are stated at fair value. The Group 

classifies a hedge as a cash flow hedge where it hedges the exposure to variability in cash flows that are either 

attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a forecasted transaction. The interest 

rate swap contract has been classified as a cash flow hedge and meets the conditions for hedge accounting. 

 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

re-measured to their fair value at each consolidated statement of financial position date. The resulting gain or loss 

is recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, 

in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. 

 

Cash flow hedge 

The effective portion of changes to the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedge 

are deferred in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized 

immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial and certain non-financial instruments at fair value at each consolidated financial 

position date. Fair value related disclosures for such instruments are disclosed in the following notes:  

 

- investment properties in Note 5. 

- available-for-sale financial assets in Note 7. 

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in Note 8. 

- derivative financial instruments in Note 22. 

- quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy in Note 40. 

- disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions in Note 43. 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 

the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:  

 

- in the principal market for the asset or liability; or  

- in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability 

is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 

market participants act in their economic best interest.  

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to 

the fair value measurement as a whole:  
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

- Level 1:  Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

- Level 2:  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is directly or indirectly observable.  

- Level 3:  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is unobservable.  

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on 

the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.  

 

The Group determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement such as unquoted 

available-for-sale financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement. 

 

External valuers are involved in the valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties, and significant 

liabilities. Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the management after discussion with and 

approval by the Group’s Audit Committee. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and 

whether professional standards are maintained. The Group decides, after discussions with the Group’s external valuers, 

which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case.  

 

At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to 

be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the Group verifies the major 

inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other 

relevant documents.  

 

The Group, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compares the change in the fair value of each asset 

and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.  

 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 

nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets 
The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is determined by 

reference to quoted market bid prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities, at the close of business on the 

consolidated statement of financial position date. If the fair value cannot be measured reliably using any of the 

methods mentioned, then these financial instruments are measured at cost, being the fair value of the consideration 

paid for the acquisition of the investment or the amount received on issuing the financial liability until a reliable 

measure of the fair value is available. All transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are also included 

in the cost of the investment. 
 

Investment properties 
The fair value of an investment property is determined by independent real estate valuation experts with recent 

experience in the location and category of the property being valued. The fair values are based on market values, 

being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the valuation date between a willing buyer 

and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein parties had each acted 

knowledgeably.  

 

Transfers are made to or from investment properties only when there is a change in use evidenced by the end of 

owner-occupation and commencement of an operating lease to another party or completion of construction or 

development. For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 

accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, 

the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the 

date of the change in use. 

 

Interest rate swap agreements 

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at the 

prevailing interest rate based on broker’s quotes.  
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Impairment 
 

Financial assets 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 

impaired. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount of that asset is determined and any impairment 

loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. For assets carried at fair value, impairment is the 

difference between cost and fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss. For an investment in equity security classified under available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged 

decline in its fair value below its cost provides objective evidence of impairment. Reversal of impairment losses in 

respect of equity investments classified as available-for-sale are treated as increases in fair value through the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Reversal of impairment losses on debt instruments are done 

through the consolidated statement of profit or loss, when the increase in fair value can be objectively related to an 

event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

For assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference between the carrying value and the present value of future 

cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

 

For assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
 

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

Other assets and liabilities 

All other assets and liabilities which are financial instruments are stated at cost, being the fair value and recognized 

at amounts to be received or to be paid in the future. 

 

Intangible assets  

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 

intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The 

useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 

there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in 

the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset 

are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 

estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either 

individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine 

whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is 

made on a prospective basis. 

 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss when the asset is derecognised. The current policy applied to the Group’s intangible asset is the right of use 

intangible asset (acquired) with an economic life of 13 years amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of 

the right to use. 

 

Investment properties 

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for 

sale in the ordinary course of business or use in the production or supply of goods and services or for administrative 

purposes. Investment properties are measured by applying the fair value model.  
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Investment properties (continued) 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-

constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other cost directly attributable 

to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised borrowing cost.  

 

Any gain or loss on disposal of any investment property (calculated as a difference between the net proceeds from 

disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.  

 

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment, its fair value at the date 

of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. 

 

Property and equipment 

 

Recognition and measurement 
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes 

the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working 

condition for their intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which 

they are located. 

 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 

disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment, and are recognised net within other income in profit 

or loss. 

 

Subsequent costs 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if 

it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be 

measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing 

of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

Depreciation  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of property and equipment other 

than land which is determined to have an indefinite life as follows:  
 

Buildings 20 years 

Furniture and fixtures 4 years 

Computers 3 – 5 years 

Motor vehicles 3 – 5 years 

Tools and equipment                                                      3 – 5 years 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 

appropriate. Depreciation is allocated within the consolidated statement of profit or loss under cost of construction 

activities and other operating and administrative expenses. 

  
Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 

at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 

on the use of a specific asset (or assets) and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset (or assets), even if that 

asset is (or those assets are) not explicitly specified in an arrangement. 

 

Group as a lessee 

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially 

all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified as a finance lease. 

 

Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased property 

or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance 

charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of 

the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Leases (continued) 

 

Group as a lessee (continued) 

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the 

Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 

useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

 

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating 

expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

Group as a lessor  

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are 

classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added 

to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group has a legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow 

of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  

 

Finance costs 

The finance costs incurred on qualified assets are capitalised being part of cost of construction. All other finance 

costs are recognised on an accrual basis in the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year in which they 

arise. 

 

Employee benefits 

 

Local employees  

With respect to local employees, the Group makes contributions to the government pension fund to the respective 

local regulatory authorities as a percentage of the employees’ salaries in accordance with the requirements of 

respective local laws pertaining to retirement and pensions, wherever required. The Group’s share of contributions 

to these schemes, which are defined contribution schemes under International Accounting Standard 19 Employee 

Benefits are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year to which they relate. 

 

Expatriate employees  
For the expatriate employees, the Group provides for employees’ end-of-service benefits determined in accordance 

with the requirements of respective local laws of Group entities pertaining to retirement and pensions, wherever 

required. These unfunded charges are made by the Group on the basis of employees’ salaries and the number of 

years of service at the consolidated statement of financial position date. Although the expected costs of these 

benefits are accrued over the period of employment, these are paid to employees only on completion of their term 

of employment with the Group.  

 

Share capital 

 

Ordinary share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The bonus shares issued during the year are shown as an addition to the 

share capital and deducted from the accumulated retained earnings of the Group. 

 

Dividends on ordinary share capital 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from retained earnings when they are 

approved by the Company’s shareholders. Dividends for the year that are approved after the consolidated statement 

of financial position date are dealt with as an event after the consolidated statement of financial position date. 

 

Fair value reserve 

This represents the unrealised gain or loss on year end fair valuation of available-for-sale financial assets. In the 

event of sale or impairment, the cumulative gains or losses recognised under the investments fair value reserve are 

recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.  
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Income recognition  

 

Gross written premiums 

Gross written premiums comprise total premiums receivable for the whole period of cover provided by contracts 

entered into during the accounting period and are recognised on the date on which the policy commences.  

 

Net earned premiums 

Premiums, net of reinsurance, are recognizd in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the terms of the 

related contracts or policies. The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks 

at the consolidated statement of financial position date is reported as the unearned premium liability. Unearned 

premiums are calculated principally on the actual number of day’s method (daily pro rata basis). 
 

Reinsurance arrangements  

As part of managing its insurance risks, the Group enters into contracts with other reinsurers for compensation of 

losses on insurance contracts issued by the Group. A proportionate amount of gross written premiums, in proportion 

to the amount of risk reinsured on an individual policy basis are paid to reinsurance companies according to the 

rates agreed in reinsurance contracts, as reinsurance premiums. In the ordinary course of business, the Group 

assumes and cedes reinsurance. Such reinsurance arrangements provide for greater diversification of business, allow 

management to control exposure to potential losses arising from large risks, and provide additional capacity for 

growth. A significant portion of reinsurance is affected under treaty, facultative and excess-of-loss reinsurance 

contracts. Amounts payable to reinsurance companies are accrued on the basis of reinsurance premium payable on 

an individual policy basis. Unearned reinsurance premiums are those proportions of premiums written in a year that 

relate to periods of risk after the consolidated statement of financial position date and are deferred over the term of 

the underlying direct insurance policies. 

 

Net commission income 

A proportionate amount of reinsurance premium paid to reinsurance companies is paid back to the Group as 

commission for undertaking the business. This commission percentage is agreed according to reinsurance contracts 

entered per individual line of business with different reinsurance companies. The amount of commission is 

recognised according to the reinsurance commission receivable on an individual policy basis. 

 

Fees  

Insurance contract policyholders are charged for policy administration services, management services and other 

contract fees. This income is recognised during the period when the policy is underwritten or the service is provided. 

 

Investment income  

Rental income from investment properties is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the period of the lease. Investment income also includes dividends, which are recognised when the 

right to receive the same is established. Interest income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

as it accrues. Income from associate companies is recognised as per the equity accounting method. Changes 

resulting from the profit or loss generated by the associates are recognised under the consolidated statements of 

profit or loss.  

 

Income from/cost of construction activities 

Cost of construction activities is recognized when incurred. When the outcome of a fixed price construction contract 

cannot be estimated reliably, income from construction activities is recognized only to the extent of contract costs 

incurred that are likely to be recoverable. 

 

When the outcome of a fixed price construction contract can be estimated reliably and it is probable that the contract 

will be profitable, contract revenue is recognized over the period of the contract. When it is probable that total 

contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.  

 

The Group uses the percentage of completion method to determine the appropriate amount of revenue to recognize 

in a given period. The stage of completion is measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work 

performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs for each contract. Costs incurred in the year in 

connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from contract costs in determining the stage of 

completion. 
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2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Claims and related expenses 
 

Gross claims paid 

Claims and related expenses are accounted for based on reports received and subsequent review on an individual 

case basis. Provision is made to cover the estimated ultimate cost of settling claims arising out of events, which 

have occurred by the end of the financial year, including unreported losses, and claims handling expenses.  
 

Reinsurance and other recoveries 

Compensations receivable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the corresponding claim 

liability. The obligations arising under reinsurance contracts are recognised in profit or loss and the related liabilities 

are recognised as accounts receivable or deducted from reinsurers’ share of technical reserves. Hence, a portion of 

the reinsurance premium payable is provided as a reserve for future claims in order to provide additional liquidity 

for the Group, which is finally settled at the end of the reinsurance period. 
 

Movement in outstanding claims 
 

Provision for reported claims by policyholders 

Provision for outstanding claims is recognized at the date the claims are known and covers the liability for loss and 

loss adjustment expenses based on loss reports from independent loss adjusters and management’s best estimates.  
 

Provision for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 

Claims provision also includes a liability for claims incurred but not reported as at the consolidated statement of 

financial position date. An independent actuarial firm is appointed every subsequent year to assess the adequacy of 

reserves to meet future outstanding liabilities. The liability is generally calculated at the reporting date, after 

considering the independent actuarial report, historic trends, empirical data and current assumptions that may 

include a margin for adverse deviations. The liability is not discounted for the time value of money.  
 

Provision for premium deficiency 

At the end of each reporting period, provision is made for premium deficiency arising from general insurance 

contracts where the expected value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods of policies in force 

at the reporting date exceeds the unearned premiums provision and already recorded claim liabilities in relation to 

such policies. The provision for premium deficiency is made by reference to classes of business at the date of 

consolidated statement of financial position based on actuarial estimates.  
 

Provision for unallocated loss adjustment expense (ULAE) 

Provision for unallocated loss adjustment expense represents an estimate of ultimate payments for losses and related 

settlement expenses from claims that have been reported but not paid. The loss reserve estimates are expectations 

of what ultimate settlement and administration of claims will cost upon final resolution. These estimates are based 

on facts and circumstances then known to us, review of historical settlement patterns, estimates of trends in claims 

frequency and severity, projections of loss costs, expected interpretations of legal theories of liability and other 

factors. In establishing the provision, we also take into account estimated recoveries from reinsurance, salvage and 

subrogation. The provision is reviewed regularly by the Group’s actuary. 
 

Reserve for unexpired risks 

The reserve for unexpired risk represents the estimated portion of net premium income which relates to periods of 

insurance subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position date. The reserve is calculated using the 

actual number of day’s method. The reinsurers’ share on estimated liability of RBNS, IBNR and unexpired 

insurance premium is separately classified as reinsurance assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

Events after the reporting period 

The consolidated financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the consolidated statement 

of financial position date and the date when the consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue, provided 

they give evidence of conditions that existed at the consolidated statement of financial position date. There were no 

subsequent events which required either adjustments or disclosures in the consolidated financial statements except 

for the proposed dividend. 

  



Qatar General Insurance & Reinsurance Company PJSC  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

26 

 

 

2         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 

by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent by the weighted number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the year.  

 

 

3         BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

 

On 2 June 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the voting shares of Orientals Enterprises W.L.L. and obtained control 

over its financial and operating activities. Orientals Enterprises W.L.L. was registered under commercial registry 

number 21830. The principal activities of Orientals Enterprises W.L.L. are trading in steel and insulation materials 

as well as contracting and construction activities. The Group acquired Orientals Enterprises W.L.L. to support the 

Group’s real estate activities as well as to diversify the source of income.  
 

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Orientals Enterprises W.L.L. as at the date of acquisition 

were: 

 

 

Fair value 

recognised on 

acquisition 

 QR '000 

Assets  

Intangible asset  21,789 

Property and equipment 15,171  

Investment properties (Note 5) 44,946 

Available-for-sale financial assets  8,533  

Other assets 20,905 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,664  

  

 114,008 

Liabilities  

Loans and borrowings 586  

Employees' end-of-service benefits (Note 24) 2,718 

Other liabilities 33,511 

  

 36,815 

  

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 77,193 

Goodwill arising from acquisition (Note 12) 14,409 

  

Purchase consideration transferred 91,602 

  

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:  

Cost of the acquisition  (91,602) 

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary  2,664 

  

Net cash flows on acquisition (88,938) 

 

The goodwill of QR 14.41 million represents future synergies expected to arise in the combined operations, the 

value of new contracts going forward, and the value of the workforce and management and other future business 

which is not separately recognized. Goodwill is allocated entirely to the investment segment. Acquisition-related 

costs were recognised in profit or loss and included in other operating and administrative expenses. 
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4         PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 

  

Freehold 

land 

 

Buildings 

Furniture 

and 

fixtures 

 

Computers 

Motor 

Vehicles 

Tools and 

equipment 

 

Total  

2016 

 

Total  

2015 

 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 

Cost:         

   At 1 January  39,154 61,543 17,506 18,666 10,435 28,579 175,883 118,922 

Acquired through acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 49,871 

   Additions  - 8,308 714 3,365 665 15,211 28,263 7,191 

   Disposals  - - (24) (64) (40) (1,064) (1,192) (101) 

         

   At 31 December  39,154 69,851 18,196 21,967 11,060 42,726 202,954 175,883 

         

Accumulated depreciation:         

   At 1 January -    28,994 15,125 14,847 8,880 23,455 91,301 48,702 

Incurred through acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 34,700 

   Depreciation for the year* - 2,005 929 1,774 824 2,877 8,409 7,989 

   Disposals  - - (24) (64) (20) (661) (769) (90) 

         

   At 31 December  - 30,999 16,030 16,557 9,684 25,671 98,941 91,301 

         

Net carrying amounts:         

   At 31 December 2016 39,154 38,852 2,166 5,410 1,376 17,055 104,013  

         

   At 31 December 2015 39,154 32,549 2,381 3,819 1,555 5,124  84,582 

 

* The depreciation for the year has been allocated within the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: 

 

    2016   2015 

  Note  QR '000   QR '000 

          

Other operating and administrative expenses 35  7,765  7,989 

Cost of construction activities   644  - 

      

    8,409  7,989 
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5         INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

    2016   2015 

  Notes  QR '000   QR '000 

          

At 1 January   5,936,607  5,005,196 

Acquired through acquisition of a subsidiary  3  -  44,946 

Additions   78,637  108,193 

Fair value gains 31  49,132  778,272 

      

At 31 December    6,064,376  5,936,607 

 

As at 31 December 2016, the fair values of the properties are based on valuations performed by accredited 

independent valuers who are specialists in valuing these types of investment properties. The valuation models used 

are in accordance with recommended industry practice. The fair value of the investment properties was estimated 

based on fair valuation techniques and assumptions with reference to recent sales transactions of similar properties 

in an active market. The rental income arising during the year from the investment properties are disclosed in Note 

29 and direct operating expenses of QR 16.86 million (2015: QR 7.48 million) is part of other expenses disclosed in 

Note 35.  

 

Investment properties include a property with a book value of QR 2.98 billion (2015: QR 2.99 billion) that is pledged 

against a first degree real estate mortgage along with the assignment of future rental proceeds from such property. 

 

 

6         INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 

 

The Group has the following investment in associates: 

 

  2016   2015  2016   2015 

 Ownership  Ownership   QR '000   QR '000 

          

Trust Bank Algeria 20%  20%  123,192  125,033 

Trust Investment Holding Algeria 20%  20%  113,095  92,674 

Oman Reinsurance Company S.A.O.C. 25%  25%  52,392  57,492 

Trust Algeria Assurances & Reassurance 

S.P.A.  23%  23%  23,181  22,767 

International Financial Securities 

Company Q.P.S.C. 12%  12%  9,166  9,072 

Qatari Unified Bureau Insurance W.L.L.* 25%  20%  7,558  2,378 

Trust Syria Insurance Company S.A.S.C. 32%  32%   5,942  4,584 

The Arab Insurance Institute Company 

S.A.S.C. 21%  21%   5,061  4,927 

Trust Insurance – Libya 15%  15%  4,770  4,968 

Gulf Assist B.S.C. 8%  8%   868  854 

        

     345,225  324,749 

 

* During the year, the Group acquired additional 5% (QR 6.75 million) to reach 25% ownership of shares of Qatari 

Unified Bureau Insurance W.L.L. The investment in this associate includes goodwill amounting to QR 6.27 million.  
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6         INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 

 

  2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

At 1 January 324,749  370,711 

Additional shares in associates 34,229  - 

Share of profits of associates 2,027  18,877 

Share of other comprehensive income (loss) of associates 818  (141) 

Dividends received from associates (11,577)  (11,294) 

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (5,021)  (53,404) 

    

At 31 December 345,225  324,749 

 

The following table illustrates summarised financial information of the Group’s investment in associates: 

 

 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Share in the associates statement of financial position:    

Non-current assets 454,752  464,817 

Current assets 273,361  269,032 

Non-current liabilities  (44,662)  (49,095) 

Current liabilities (338,226)  (360,005) 

    

Net assets 345,225  324,749 

    

Share of the associates revenues and profit:    

Revenues 13,088  31,902 

    

Profit 2,027  18,877 

 

 

7         AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

  2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Equity securities 814,785  839,044 

Debt securities 180,885  189,182 

Managed funds 21,107  29,198 

    

 1,016,777  1,057,424 
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8         FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 

  2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Equity securities 164,129  167,618 

 

 

9         INSURANCE RECEIVABLES 
 

 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Due from policyholders 149,229  151,015 

Due from insurers and reinsurers 65,064  33,016 

Due from agents, brokers and intermediaries 14,512  11,257 

Claims recoveries 5,284  6,111 

    

 234,089  201,399 

 

As at the reporting date, the aging of unimpaired insurance receivables was as follows: 

 

  
Neither  

past due 
nor impaired 

   

  Past due but not impaired 

 Total < 3 months 3 – 9 months > 9 months 
 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 

      

31 December 2016 234,089 67,773 36,000 68,587 61,729 

31 December 2015 201,399 51,380 60,760 64,649 24,610 

 

Unimpaired insurance receivables are expected to be fully recoverable. It is not the practice of the Group to obtain 

collateral over receivables and the vast majority is therefore unsecured. 

 

 

10       REINSURANCE ASSETS 

 

     2016   2015 

 Note   QR '000   QR '000 

      

Reported claims by policyholders   479,772  600,104 

Unearned premiums   245,702  223,184 

Claims IBNR   54,249  36,582 

      

 20   779,723   859,870 
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11       TAKAFUL PARTICIPANTS’ FUND ACCOUNTS 

 

(a)      Statement of financial position – Policyholders 

 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Assets    

Furniture and equipment 3,356   3,074 

Investment properties 81,821   73,826 

Financial assets:    

Available-for-sale financial assets 48,399  57,362 

Receivables from related parties 6,341  4,927 

Takaful receivables 64,141   44,610 

Retakaful assets 39,261  32,126 

Other assets 11,595   12,182 

Cash and cash equivalents 41,581   52,894 

    

  296,495   281,001 

Liabilities     

Takaful contract liabilities 229,938   217,227 

Financial liabilities:    

Payables to related parties 1,370   807 

Takaful payables 45,487   56,721 

Other liabilities 13,903   36,653 

Fair value reserve 128   (60) 

  290,826   311,348 

Surplus (deficit) at 31 December 5,669   (30,347) 

    

 296,495   281,001 
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11       TAKAFUL PARTICIPANTS’ FUND ACCOUNTS (CONTINUED) 

 

(b)      Statement of profit or loss – Policyholders 
 

 2016  2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Gross written contributions 207,644  231,267 

Change in unearned contributions provision 10,793  6,445 

    

Gross earned contributions 218,437  237,712 

Contributions ceded to retakaful companies (31,311)  (31,304) 

    

Net earned contributions 187,126  206,408 
     

Fees and commission expenses (6,238)  (8,143) 

Investment (losses) income (1,775)  2,581 

Other operating revenue 447  576 

    

Other expenses (7,566)  (4,986) 

    

Total revenue 179,560  201,422 

    

Gross claims paid (135,829)  (212,910) 

Claims ceded to retakaful companies 6,917  36,089 

Gross change in Takaful contract liabilities (23,505)  (1,637) 

Change in Takaful contract liabilities ceded to retakaful companies 10,053  (24,196) 

    

Net claims (142,364)  (202,654) 
    

Impairment losses on receivables (937)  (46) 
    

Surplus (deficit) for the year before wakala fee 36,259  (1,278) 

Wakala fee (30,590)  (33,935) 

    

Surplus (deficit) for the year 5,669  (35,213) 

 

 

12       OTHER ASSETS 

 

     2016   2015 

 Notes   QR '000   QR '000 

      

Advance payments against investments 38 (e)  70,949  84,551 

Prepayments and advances     31,077  27,292 

Accrued rent (a)  30,509  54,899 

Qard Hasan to Takaful participants’ fund (b)  30,347  - 

Intangible asset (c)  19,135  20,812 

Goodwill (d)  14,409  14,409 

Inventory   8,299  3,760 

Accrued interest     2,330  2,750 

Staff receivables   800  850 

Other receivables    35,154  55,556 
      

      243,009  264,879 
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12       OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

 

(a) Accrued rent includes an amount of QR 30.48 million (2015: QR 54.86 million) which pertains to the leasing 

of a tower in the Doha Corniche area. 
 

(b) The Qard Hasan was provided by the shareholders of General Takaful Company W.L.L. to cover the 

accumulated deficit in Takaful participants’ fund as per the Board of Directors’ resolution and Shari’a 

Supervisory Board’s approval.  

 

(c) The intangible asset represents a right of use over property leased by Orientals Enterprises W.L.L. in the 

Mesaieed industrial area. The right of use intangible asset is amortised on a systematic basis over the period 

of the remaining lease which is 13 years. 

 

(d) Goodwill amounting to QR 14.4 million that arose on the acquisition of Orientals Enterprises W.L.L. has been 

allocated to the Orientals cash-generating unit (Orientals CGU). The recoverable amount of this cash-

generating unit is determined on the basis of the market value based approach.  

 

 

13       CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
The cash and cash equivalents position for cash flow purposes, net of the Group overdraft is as follows: 
 

   2016   2015 

 Note   QR '000   QR '000 

      

Cash and bank balances   303,287  231,202 

Bank overdrafts 21  (2,711)  (1,952) 

      

Cash and cash equivalents     300,576  229,250 

 
 
14       ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL 

 

Authorized, issued and fully paid up share capital comprises of 87,506,703 shares of QR 10 each (2015: 79,551,549 

shares of QR 10 each). 

 

 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

 875,067  795,515 

 

During the year, the Company issued 7,955,154 bonus shares of QR 10 each (2015: 10,376,289 shares of QR 10 each). 

 

 
15       LEGAL RESERVE  

 

The Qatar Commercial Companies' Law No. 11 of 2015 requires that 10% of the net profit for each year should be 

appropriated to a legal reserve until the balance therein equals to 50% of the paid up capital. During the year, the 

Group has transferred an amount of QR 25.83 million (2015: QR 92.58 million) from retained earnings to the legal 

reserve. The Group's legal reserve exceeds 50% of share capital. However, in accordance with Qatar Central Bank's 

Law No. 13 of 2012 as amended, 10% of net profit is required to be transferred to legal reserve until the legal reserve 

equals 100% of the paid up capital. The balance under this reserve is not available for distribution, except in the 

circumstances specified in the above law and after Qatar Central Bank approval. 
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16       REVALUATION RESERVES 

 

      2016   2015 

 Notes   QR '000   QR '000 

            

Available-for-sale financial assets (a)   597,183   617,951 

Revaluation surplus (b)   77,355   77,355 

Cash flow hedge (c)   (19,820)   (28,515) 

Foreign currency translation reserve (d)   (142,119)   (137,098) 

      

     512,599   529,693 

 

(a) Available-for-sale financial assets 

 

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 

until the investments are derecognised or impaired. The movement in the balances is as follows: 

 

   2016   2015 

 Note  QR '000   QR '000 

      

At 1 January   617,951  740,111 

Fair value change during the year   (4,981)  (128,513) 

Transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

upon sale   (42,538)  (5,201) 

Transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

upon impairment 30  26,751  11,554 

      

At 31 December   597,183  617,951 

 

(b) Revaluation surplus 

 

One of the associate companies, Trust Investment Holding Algeria where the Group has a 20% equity investment, 

has revalued its properties and a revaluation surplus was directly recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income of the associate. The Group has recognized its proportionate share of the revaluation surplus amounting to 

QR 77.36 million in equity under the revaluation reserve. 

 

(c) Cash flow hedge 

 

The hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedge 

related to hedge transactions that have not yet affected profit or loss. 

 

(d) Foreign currency translation reserve 

 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of investments in 

foreign associates, at the closing exchange rates.  
 

 
17       SHAREHOLDERS DIVIDENDS  

 

The Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend of 15% of the nominal share value (QR 1.50 per share) for the 

year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: cash dividend of 15% of the nominal share value (QR 1.50 per share) and a 

bonus share of 10% of the share capital were approved and paid). The amounts are subject to the approval of the 

general assembly.  
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18       CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIAL AND SPORTS ACTIVITIES FUND 

 

Pursuant to the Qatar Law No. 13 of 2008 and the related clarifications issued in 2012, which is applicable for all 

Qatari listed shareholding companies with publicly traded shares, the Group has made an appropriation of 2.5% of 

its net profit for the year excluding unrealised fair value gains on investment properties resulting in a net amount of 

QR 5.23 million being its contribution to the social and sports activities fund for the year 2016 (2015: QR 3.69 

million). 

 

 

19       NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 

 

The non-controlling interests relate to the subsidiaries Mozoon Real Estate Company W.L.L. and General Company 

for Water and Beverages W.L.L. 
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20       INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES 

 

    2016   2015 

    

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities   

Reinsurance 

of insurance 

contract 

liabilities   Net   

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities   

Reinsurance 

of insurance 

contract 

liabilities   Net 

  Notes QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000 

             

Provision for reported claims by policyholders   598,853  (479,772)  119,081  717,059  (600,104)  116,955 

Provision for claims IBNR   78,715  (54,249)  24,466  62,574  (36,582)  25,992 

Provision for premium deficiency  2,683  -  2,683  -  -  - 

Provision for unallocated loss adjustment expense   2,932  -  2,932  -  -  - 

Outstanding claims provision (a) 683,183  (534,021)  149,162  779,633  (636,686)  142,947 

Provision for unearned premiums (reserve for 

unexpired risks) (b) 355,574  (245,702)  109,872  321,947  (223,184)  98,763 

             

    1,038,757  (779,723)  259,034  1,101,580  (859,870)  241,710 

                          

(a)  Outstanding claims provision                         

             

    2016   2015 

   

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities   

Reinsurance 

of insurance 

contract 

liabilities   Net   

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities   

Reinsurance 

of insurance 

contract 

liabilities   Net 

   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000 

             

At 1 January  779,633  (636,686)  142,947  481,693  (343,366)  138,327 

Gross / ceded change in contract liabilities  (96,450)  102,665  6,215  297,940  (293,320)  4,620 

             

At 31 December  683,183  (534,021)  149,162  779,633  (636,686)  142,947 
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20       INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 

(b)  Provision for unearned premiums (reserve for unexpired risks)                     

           

    2016   2015 

   

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities   

Reinsurance 

of insurance 

contract 

liabilities   Net   

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities   

Reinsurance 

of insurance 

contract 

liabilities   Net 

   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000 

             

At 1 January  321,947  (223,184)  98,763  287,628  (202,410)  85,218 

Premiums written during the year  629,949  (415,179)  214,770  627,256  (426,550)  200,706 

Premiums earned during the year  (596,322)  392,661  (203,661)  (592,937)  405,776  (187,161) 

             

At 31 December  355,574  (245,702)  109,872  321,947  (223,184)  98,763 
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20       INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Claims development 2016 

 

The following table shows the estimated cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and IBNR for each successive accident year at the end of each reporting period, together 

with cumulative payments to date:  

 

 Accident year 

 

2012 and 

before  2013  2014  2015  2016  Total 

 QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

Estimate of cumulative claims            

 At end of the accident year 1,231,545  160,031  162,598  156,754  152,356   

    One year later 1,258,409  149,219  136,241  128,364  -   

    Two years later 1,258,482  142,206  128,798  -  -   

    Three years later 1,259,101  139,427  -  -  -   

    Four years later 1,257,528  -  -  -  -   

            

Current estimate of cumulative claims 1,257,528  139,427  128,798  128,364  152,356  1,806,473 

Cumulative payments to date (1,247,392)  (132,973)  (116,510)  (102,708)  (63,343)  (1,662,926) 

            

Total cumulative claims recognized in the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 10,136  6,454  12,288  25,656  89,013  143,547 

 

The claims development table is presented net of risk mitigation through reinsurance to give the most meaningful insight into the impact on the operating results.  
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20       INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Claims development 2015 

 

The following table shows the estimated cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and IBNR for each successive accident year at the end of each reporting period, together 

with cumulative payments to date:  

 

 Accident year 

 

2011 and 

before  2012 

 

2013  2014  2015  Total 

 QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

Estimate of cumulative claims            

 At end of the accident year 1,100,698  143,924  160,031  162,598  156,754   

    One year later 1,087,621  134,317  149,219  136,241  -   

    Two years later 1,124,092  130,865  142,206  -  -   

    Three years later 1,127,617  130,526  -  -  -   

    Four years later 1,128,575  -  -  -  -   

            

Current estimate of cumulative claims 1,128,575  130,526  142,206  136,241  156,754  1,694,302 

Cumulative payments to date (1,118,622)  (124,183)  (130,079)  (110,789)  (67,682)  (1,551,355) 

            

Total cumulative claims recognized in the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015 9,953  6,343  12,127  25,452  89,072  142,947 

 

The claims development table is presented net of risk mitigation through reinsurance to give the most meaningful insight into the impact on the operating results. 
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21       LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 

     2016   2015 

 Note   QR '000   QR '000 

      

Term loans   1,267,940   1,170,638 

Bank overdrafts 13   2,711   1,952 

      

      1,270,651   1,172,590 

            

(a)  Current portion           

     2016   2015 

 Note   QR '000   QR '000 

      

Term loans     309,040   744,123 

Bank overdrafts 13   2,711   1,952 

      

     311,751   746,075 

            

(b)  Non-current portion           

      2016   2015 

    QR '000   QR '000 

      

Term loans     958,900   426,515 
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22       DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 

 2016  2015 

  Assets   Liabilities   

Notional 

amount   Assets   Liabilites   

Notional 

amount 

  QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000 

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge:                       

Interest rate swaps -  19,820  417,469   -  28,515  479,063 

            

Derivatives held for trading:            

Put options -  -  -  -  -  3,650 

  

Interest rate swaps 

The Group entered into interest rate swap contracts designated as a hedge of expected future LIBOR interest rate payable. Under the terms of the interest rate swap contracts, the Group 

pays a fixed rate of interest and receives floating LIBOR rates. The terms of the interest rate swap contracts have been negotiated to match the terms of the underlying commitments. 

As at 31 December 2016, the measurement of the fair value of the hedge resulted in an amount of QR 19.82 million (2015: QR 28.52 million) being recognized in equity as a cash flow 

hedge reserve. 

 

Options 

Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser either to buy or sell a specified amount of a financial instrument at a fixed price, 

either at a fixed future date or at any time within a specified period. 

 

The Group purchases and sells options through regulated exchanges and in the over–the–counter markets. Options purchased by the Group provide the Group with the opportunity to 

purchase (call options) or sell (put options) the underlying asset at an agreed–upon value either on or before the expiration of the option. The Group is exposed to credit risk on 

purchased options only to the extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value. 

 

Options written by the Group provide the purchaser the opportunity to purchase from or sell to the Group the underlying asset at an agreed–upon value either on or before the expiration 

of the option. 
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23       INSURANCE PAYABLES 

 

 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Due to insurers and reinsurers 117,446  125,413 

Due to policyholders 93,777  97,414 

Due to agents, brokers and intermediaries 20,056  18,358 

    

  231,279  241,185 

 

 

24       EMPLOYEES’ END-OF-SERVICE BENEFITS 

 

   2016   2015 

 Note  QR '000   QR '000 

      

  At 1 January   33,942   27,584 

Incurred through acquisition of a subsidiary 3  -  2,718 

  Provided during the year   5,723  5,701 

  Transferred from Takaful participants’ fund accounts   -  3,776 

  Paid during the year    (1,921)   (5,837) 

      

  At 31 December    37,744   33,942 

 

 

25       OTHER LIABILITIES 

 

  2016   2015 

  QR '000   QR '000 

    

Accrued expenses 65,581  58,568 

Staff payables 6,181  2,413 

Accrued interest 2,435  3,184 

Other payables 91,381  137,378 

    

  165,578  201,543 
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26       SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

Segment consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2016: 

 

 2016  2015 

  Insurance   Investments   Total   Insurance   Investments  Total 

  QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000  QR '000   QR '000 

            

Gross written premiums 629,949  -  629,949  627,256  -  627,256 

Change in unearned premiums provision (33,627)  -  (33,627)  (34,319)  -  (34,319) 

            

Gross earned premiums 596,322  -  596,322  592,937  -  592,937 

Premiums ceded to reinsurers (392,661)  -  (392,661)  (405,776)  -  (405,776) 

            

Net earned premiums 203,661  -  203,661  187,161  -  187,161 

            

Fees and commission income 13,438  -  13,438  22,823  -  22,823 

Investment income -  236,534  236,534  -  245,916  245,916 

Net realised gains (losses) -  18,336  18,336  -  (2,392)  (2,392) 

Fair value gains -  56,600  56,600  -  746,494  746,494 

Income from construction activities -  34,406  34,406  -  10,592  10,592 

Other operating revenue 4,863  69,687  74,550  12,441  3,926  16,367 

            

Other revenue 18,301  415,563  433,864  35,264  1,004,536  1,039,800 

             

Total revenue 221,962  415,563  637,525  222,425  1,004,536  1,226,961 
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26       SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 

Segment consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued): 

 

 2016  2015 

  Insurance   Investments   Total   Insurance   Investments  Total 

  QR '000   QR '000   QR '000   QR '000  QR '000   QR '000 

            

Gross claims paid (314,417)  -  (314,417)  (218,147)  -  (218,147) 

Claims ceded to reinsurers 205,739  -  205,739  112,837  -  112,837 

Gross change in insurance contract liabilities 96,450  -  96,450  (297,940)  -  (297,940) 

Change in insurance contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers (102,665)  -  (102,665)  293,320  -  293,320 

            

Net claims (114,893)  -  (114,893)  (109,930)  -  (109,930) 

             

Finance costs (1,394)  (46,599)  (47,993)  (1,264)  (41,619)  (42,883) 

Cost of construction activities -  (29,161)  (29,161)  -  (10,981)  (10,981) 

Other operating and administrative expenses (82,574)  (106,677)  (189,251)  (81,717)  (74,523)  (156,240) 

            

Other expenses (83,968)  (182,437)  (266,405)  (82,981)  (127,123)  (210,104) 

             

Total expenses (198,861)  (182,437)  (381,298)  (192,911)  (127,123)  (320,034) 

            

Profit before share of profits of associates 23,101  233,126  256,227  29,514  877,413  906,927 

Share of profits of associates -  2,027  2,027  -  18,877  18,877 

            

Profit for the year 23,101  235,153  258,254  29,514  896,290  925,804 
 

Segment assets and liabilities  

Assets and liabilities of the Group are commonly used across the primary segments.  
 

Geographic information  

The Group operates in two geographic markets, in the State of Qatar and the United Arab Emirates. Gross written premiums in the State of Qatar amounted to QR 574.29 million 

(2015: QR 579.62 million) and the United Arab Emirates amounted to QR 55.66 million (2015: QR 47.64 million). 
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27       NET EARNED PREMIUMS 

 

(a)  Gross earned premiums       

     2016   2015 

  Note  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Gross written premiums 20 (b)  629,949  627,256 

Change in unearned premiums provision    (33,627)  (34,319) 

      

  20 (b)  596,322  592,937 

 

 (b)  Premiums ceded to reinsurers  

   2016   2015 

 Note  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Insurance contracts 20 (b)  (415,179)  (426,550) 

Change in unearned premiums provision    22,518  20,774 

      

  20 (b)  (392,661)  (405,776) 

       

Net earned premiums   203,661  187,161 

 

 

28       FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME 

 

 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Reinsurance and other commission income 10,821  21,043 

Policyholders administration fees 2,617  1,780 

    

 13,438  22,823 

 

 

29       INVESTMENT INCOME 

 

  2016   2015 

  QR '000   QR '000 

    

Investment properties    

Rental income 182,686  182,015 

Available-for-sale financial assets    

Dividend income 30,666  38,914 

Interest income 13,071  12,621 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    

Dividend income 5,877  8,647 

Cash and cash equivalents    

Interest income 4,234  3,719 

    

  236,534  245,916 
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30       NET REALISED GAINS (LOSSES) 

 

  2016   2015 

  QR '000   QR '000 

    

Available-for-sale financial assets    

Equity securities 41,246  3,658 

Debt securities 1,292  1,543 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

Equity securities 1,235  - 

Investment in associates 1,314  3,961 

Impairment losses on investments (26,751)  (11,554) 

     

 18,336  (2,392) 

 

 

31       FAIR VALUE GAINS  

 

      2016   2015 

  Note   QR '000   QR '000 

       

Investment properties 5  49,132  778,272 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   7,468  (31,778) 

      

      56,600  746,494 

 

 

32       OTHER OPERATING REVENUE 

 

  2016   2015 

  QR '000   QR '000 

    

Shareholders’ income from Takaful operations 2,928  10,840 

Miscellaneous income 71,622  5,527 

    

  74,550  16,367 
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33       NET CLAIMS 

 

     2016   2015 

  Note  QR '000   QR '000 

(a)      Gross claims paid      

Gross claims paid    339,320  247,294 

Claims recoveries    (24,903)  (29,147) 

      

    314,417  218,147 

      

(b)      Claims ceded to reinsurers       

Claims ceded to reinsurers    (205,739)  (112,837) 

       

(c)      Gross change in insurance contract liabilities       

Provision for reported claims by policyholders   (118,205)  299,563 

Provision for claims IBNR   16,140  (1,623) 

Provision for premium deficiency   2,683  - 

Provision for unallocated loss adjustment expense    2,932  - 

      

  20 (a)  (96,450)  297,940 

       

(d)      Change in insurance contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers     

Provision for reported claims by policyholders   120,332  (293,597) 

Provision for claims IBNR   (17,667)  277 

      

 20 (a)  102,665  (293,320) 

      

Net claims    114,893  109,930 

 

 

34       FINANCE COSTS 

 

  2016   2015 

  QR '000   QR '000 

    

Interest expenses 45,550  40,748 

Interest on reinsurance premium reserves 291  278 

 45,841  41,026 

Bank charges 2,152  1,857 

    

  47,993  42,883 
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35       OTHER OPERATING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 

    2016   2015 

  Notes  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Employee benefits expenses   109,070  89,402 

Occupancy expenses   12,856  8,961 

Board of Directors' remuneration 38 (a)  8,310  8,740 

Depreciation of property and equipment 4  7,765  7,989 

Marketing expenses   6,281  2,974 

Consultancy expenses   4,855  5,568 

Amortization of intangible asset   1,676  977 

Travel expenses   1,484  1,612 

Net foreign exchange adjustments   158  4,413 

Impairment recoveries   (1,392)  (1,089) 

Other expenses   38,188  26,693 

      

    189,251  156,240 

 

 

36       EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

  2016   2015 

    

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Parent (QR '000) 219,341  925,709 

Weighted average number of shares (in thousands) 87,507  87,507 

    

Earnings per share (in Qatari Riyals) 2.51  10.58 

 

Reconciliation of the number of ordinary shares outstanding (in thousands): 

 

  2016   2015 

    

Number of shares outstanding at 1 January  79,552   69,175 

Bonus shares issued during the year  7,955  710,37  

    

Number of shares outstanding at 31 December  87,507  279,55  

 

During 2016, the Group issued bonus shares for the year 2015. Accordingly, the previously reported earnings per 

share for 2015 have been restated for the effect of this transaction. There were no potentially diluted shares 

outstanding at any time during the year and therefore the diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings 

per share. 
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37       CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

 

  2016   2015 

  QR '000   QR '000 

        

Net change in receivables from related parties (688)  136 

Net change in insurance receivables 31,689  1,979 

Net change in reinsurance assets (80,147)  314,094 

Net change in other assets (20,585)  18,095 

    

Net change in operating assets (69,731)  334,304 

        

Net change in insurance contract liabilities (62,823)  332,259 

Net change in payables to related parties 24,531  54,101 

Net change in insurance payables (9,906)  310 

Net change in other liabilities (41,193)  (33,342) 

    

Net change in operating liabilities (89,391)  353,328 

 

 

38       RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

Related parties consist of shareholders, related companies, key management personnel of the Group, and entities 

controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions 

are approved by the Group’s management. 

 

(a)      Related party transactions 
Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss were as follows: 

 

 2016 

 

Gross 

written 

premiums 

Premiums 

ceded to 

reinsurers 

Gross 

claims 

paid 

Claims 

ceded to 

reinsurers 

Fees and 

commission 

income 

Other 

operating 

expenses 

 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 

       

Trust Re – Bahrain 388 (74,098) - 10,514 3,153 (407) 

Others 11,580 (7) (8,371) - - (2,750) 

 

 

 2015 

 

Gross 

written 

premiums 

Premiums 

ceded to 

reinsurers 

Gross 

claims 

paid 

Claims 

ceded to 

reinsurers 

Fees and 

commission 

income 

Other 

operating 

expenses 

 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 

       

Trust Re – Bahrain - (61,286) - 2,630 6,073 (348) 

Others 13,608 - (13,560) - - (2,129) 
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38       RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a)      Related party transactions (continued) 
The compensation of key management personnel during the year were as follows: 

 

    2016   2015 

  Note  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Salaries and other short-term benefits   38,613  27,408 

Board of Directors’ remuneration 35  8,310  8,740 

End-of-service benefits   1,522  1,392 

      

   48,445  37,540 

 

(b)  Receivables from / payables to related parties 

Non-insurance related balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as 

follows: 

 

Receivables from related parties 

 

   2016   2015 

 Relationship  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Trust Holding Ltd. Company Affiliate  76  - 

Trust Syria Insurance Company S.A.S.C. Associate  54  54 

North Africa Energy Company W.L.L. Affiliate  54  - 

Trust Algeria Assurances & Reassurance S.P.A.  Associate  52  39 

International Financial Securities Company Q.P.S.C. Associate  11  - 

Trust Re – Bahrain Affiliate  5  14 

Nest Investments (Holdings) Limited Affiliate  -  767 

Falcon Readymix Company W.L.L. Affiliate  -  66 

      

   252  940 

 

Payables to related parties 

 

   2016   2015 

 Relationship  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Alsari Trading Company W.L.L. Affiliate  73,141  57,327 

Falcon Readymix Company W.L.L. Affiliate  6,260  - 

Nest Investments (Holdings) Limited Affiliate  2,591  - 

Trust Holding Ltd. Company Affiliate  -  134 

      

    81,992  57,461 
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38       RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

 

(c)       Insurance receivables and payables  

Insurance related balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as 

follows: 
 

   2016   2015 

 Relationship  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Trust Re – Bahrain* Affiliate  12,434  8,046 

Other insurance receivables Others  3,494  3,395 

Other insurance payables Others  (1,091)  (2,442) 

 

* Trust Re – Bahrain balance includes an amount of QR 9.25 million (2015: QR 103 thousand) in premiums ceded to 

it in its capacity as Treaty Administrators.   

 

(d)  Investment properties 

The additions to investment properties in Note 5 include QR 18.93 million (2015: QR 21.25 million) in supplies from 

Falcon Readymix Company W.L.L. 

 

(e)  Other assets 

Other assets include advance payments to related parties as follows: 

 

   2016   2015 

 Note  QR '000   QR '000 

      

Trust Investment Holding Algeria 12  70,949  84,551 

Falcon Readymix Company W.L.L.   -  2,933 

      

   70,949  87,484 

 

All above disclosed balances are unsecured, interest free and settlement normally occurs in cash. There have been no 

guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group 

has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties (2015: Nil). 

 

 

39       CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS   

 

  2016   2015 

  QR '000   QR '000 

(a) Contingent liabilities    

Letters of guarantee 116,751  15,188 

    

(b) Lease commitments     

Operating lease commitments are payable as follows:    

Less than one year 6,204  4,899 

Between one and five years 6,701  983 

    

 12,905  5,882 
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40       FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT  

 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liability that are 

measured at fair value. 

 

   Quoted prices 

in active 

markets 

Level 1 

Significant 

observable 

inputs 

Level 2 

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs 

Level 3 Total 

31 December 2016 Notes Date of valuation QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 
       

Assets measured at fair value:       

  Investment properties 5 31 December 2016 - - 6,064,376 6,064,376 

  Available-for-sale 7 31 December 2016 1,002,921 10,206 - 1,013,127 

  At fair value through profit or loss 8 31 December 2016 164,129 - - 164,129 

       

   1,167,050 10,206 6,064,376 7,241,632 

       

Liability measured at fair value:       

  Derivative financial instruments  22 31 December 2016 - 19,820 - 19,820 

 
   Quoted prices 

in active 

markets 

Level 1 

Significant 

observable 

inputs 

Level 2 

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs 

Level 3 Total 

31 December 2015 Notes Date of valuation QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 

       

Assets measured at fair value:       

  Investment properties 5 31 December 2015 - - 5,936,607 5,936,607 

  Available-for-sale 7 31 December 2015 1,032,371 18,410 - 1,050,781 

  At fair value through profit or loss 8 31 December 2015 167,618 - - 167,618 

       

   1,199,989 18,410 5,936,607 7,155,006 

       

Liability measured at fair value:       

  Derivative financial instruments  22 31 December 2015 - 28,515 - 28,515 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets carried at cost amount to QR 3.65 million (2015: QR 6.64 million). During the 

year, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 (2015: Nil). 

 

 

41       RISK MANAGEMENT  

 

The Group, in the normal course of business, derives its revenue mainly from assuming and managing insurance, 

investments and investment properties. The Group’s lines of business are exposed to the following risks:  

 

- Insurance risk 

- Credit risk 

- Liquidity risk 

- Market risk, and  

- Operational risk 

 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 

policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further 

quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements. 
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41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 

management framework. The Board of Directors approves the Group risk management policies and meets regularly. 

 

These policies define the Group’s identification of risk and its interpretation, limit structure to ensure the appropriate 

quality and diversification of assets, align underwriting and reinsurance strategy to the corporate goals, and specify 

reporting requirements. The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks 

faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 

management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s 

activities.  

 

The Audit Committee and the Risk Committee of the Group oversee how management monitors compliance with 

the Group’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework 

in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Committees are assisted in their oversight role by Internal Audit 

Department. Internal Audit Department undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls 

and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee. 

 

Insurance risk 

The risk under any insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of the 

amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore 

unpredictable. The insurance contracts issued by the Group for various risks are homogeneous. 

 

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the 

principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed 

the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur when the frequency or severity of claims and 

benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount of claims and 

benefits will vary from year to year from the level established using statistical techniques. 

 
Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variability of 

the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected by a change in 

any subset of the portfolio. The Group has developed its insurance underwriting strategy to diversify the type of 

insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to 

reduce the variability of the expected outcome. 

 

Risks are accepted based on an evaluation of pricing and prior underwriting experience in accordance with 

underwriting guidelines that have been laid out for each line of business. Underwriting guidelines are constantly 

reviewed and updated to take account of market developments, performance and opportunities. Accumulation limits 

are set to control exposures to natural hazards and catastrophes. Various underwriting and approval limits are 

specified for accepting risks. The reinsurance strategy of the Group is designed to protect exposures to individual 

and event risks based on current risk exposures through cost effective reinsurance arrangements. The recoverable 

amounts from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and are in 

accordance with the reinsurance contracts.  

 

Even though the Group has reinsurance arrangements, the direct obligation to its policyholders is shown as a liability 

and thus to the extent the reinsurer is not able to meet its obligations under the reinsurance arrangement, a credit 

exposure exists. The management ensures that the Group’s reinsurance placement is diversified within a range of 

reinsurers and is not concentrated or dependent on any single reinsurer.  

 

Frequency and severity of claims 

The frequency and severity of claims can be determined after consideration of several factors as follows: 

 

- past experience of the claims; 

- economic level; 

- laws and regulations; and 

- public awareness 

 

The Group manages these risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance arrangements and proactive 

claims handling. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure that the underwritten risks are well diversified in 

terms of type and amount of risk, industry and geography. 
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41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

Insurance risk (continued) 

 

Frequency and severity of claims (continued) 

Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria. For example, the Group has the right 

not to renew individual policies, it can impose deductibles and it has the right to reject the payment of a fraudulent 

claim. The Group has the right to re-price the risk on renewal. Insurance contracts also entitle the Group to pursue 

third parties for payment of some or all costs (for example, subrogation). 

 

The reinsurance arrangements include proportional and non-proportional coverage. The effect of such reinsurance 

arrangements is that the Group should not suffer major insurance losses.  

 

The Group has specialised claims units dealing with the mitigation of risks surrounding general insurance claims. 

This unit investigates, adjusts and settles all general insurance claims. The general insurance claims are reviewed 

individually regularly and adjusted to reflect the latest information on the underlying facts, current law, jurisdiction, 

contractual terms and conditions, and other factors. The Group actively manages settlements of general insurance 

claims to reduce its exposure to unpredictable developments. 

 

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 
Claims on general insurance contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Group is liable for all insured 

events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is discovered after the end of the contract term. 

As a result, a larger element of the claims provision relates to incurred but not reported claims (IBNR) which are 

settled over a short to medium term period. 

 

There are several variables that affect the amount and timing of cash flows from these contracts. These mainly relate 

to the inherent risks of the business activities carried out by individual contract holders and the risk management 

procedures adopted. The compensation paid on these contracts is the monetary awards granted for the loss suffered 

by the policyholders or third parties (for third party liability covers).  

 

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims, net of the expected 

subrogation values and other recoveries. The Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate 

information regarding its claims exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is 

likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established. The liability for these 

contracts comprise a provision for IBNR, a provision for reported claims not yet paid and a provision for unexpired 

risks as at the consolidated statement of financial position date. 

 

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Group’s estimation techniques are a 

combination of loss-ratio-based estimates (where the loss ratio is defined as the ratio between the ultimate cost of 

insurance claims and insurance premiums earned in a particular financial year in relation to such claims) and an 

estimate based upon actual claims experience using predetermined formula where greater weight is given to actual 

claims experience as time passes. An actuarial valuation is done every year to ensure the adequacy of the reserves. 

 

Claims development 

The Group maintains strong reserves in respect of its insurance business in order to protect against adverse future 

claims experience and developments. The uncertainties about the amount and timing of claim payments are 

generally resolved within one year (Note 20). 

  

Process used to decide on assumptions 

The risks associated with these insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number of variables that complicate 

quantitative sensitivity analysis. The exposure of the Group to claims associated with general insurance is material. 

This exposure is concentrated in Qatar where significant transactions take place. 

 

The Group uses assumptions based on a mixture of internal and actuarial reports to measure its general insurance 

related claims liabilities. Internal data is derived mostly from the Group’s monthly claims reports and screening of 

the actual insurance contracts carried out at year end to derive data for the contracts held. The Group has reviewed 

the individual contracts and their actual exposure to claims. This information is used to develop scenarios related 

to the latency of claims that are used for the projections of the ultimate number of claims. 



Qatar General Insurance & Reinsurance Company PJSC 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

55 

 

 

41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

Insurance risk (continued) 

 

Process used to decide on assumptions (continued) 

The table below sets out the concentration of outstanding claims provision by type of contract: 

 

 2016  2015 

 
Gross 

reserves  

Reinsurance 

reserves  

Net 

reserves  

Gross 

reserves  

Reinsurance 

reserves  

Net 

reserves 

 QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

            

Motor 118,762  (10,466)  108,296  114,701  (8,585)  106,116 

Non-Motor 564,421  (523,555)  40,866  664,932  (628,101)  36,831 

            

 683,183  (534,021)  149,162  779,633  (636,686)  142,947 

 

Sensitivity analysis 

The reasonableness of the estimation process is tested by an analysis of sensitivity around several scenarios. The 

sensitivity of the Group’s income to insurance risks is as follows: 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the other party by failing 

to discharge an obligation. 

 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognized at the 

consolidated statement of financial position. The Group manages and limits its credit exposure as stated below. 

 

The Group credit control policy sets out exposures limits per counter party, which is reviewed and monitored by 

the Executive Management Committee. Limits are set for investments and minimum credit ratings for investments 

that may be held. 

 

Reinsurance is placed with counterparties that have a good credit rating and concentration of risk is avoided by 

following policy guidelines in respect of counterparties’ limits that are subject to regular reviews. At each reporting 

date, management performs an assessment of creditworthiness of reinsurers and updates the reinsurance purchase 

strategy, ascertaining suitable allowance for impairment. 

 

The Group sets the maximum credit amounts and terms to its customers. The credit risk in respect of such customer 

balances incurred on non–payment of premiums will only persist during the grace period specified, when the policy 

is either paid up or terminated. Commission paid to intermediaries is netted off against amounts receivable from 

them to reduce the risk of doubtful debts. 

 

 

 

Change in 

assumptions  

Increase 

(decrease) 

in insurance 

contract 

liabilities  

Increase 

(decrease) in 

reinsurance 

contract 

liabilities  

Impact 

on  

net profit  

Impact on 

equity 

   QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

31 December 2016          

Outstanding claims provision 
+5%  34,025  26,701  (7,324)  (7,324) 

-5%  (34,025)  (26,701)  7,324  7,324 

          

31 December 2015          

Outstanding claims provision 
+5%  38,982  31,834  (7,147)  (7,147) 

-5%  (38,982)  (31,834)  7,147  7,147 
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41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

Credit risk (continued) 

The Group further restricts its credit risk exposure by entering into master netting arrangements with counterparties 

with which it enters into significant volumes of transactions. However, such arrangements do not generally result 

in offsetting the consolidated statement of financial position assets and liabilities, as transactions are usually settled 

on a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated with such balances is reduced in the event of a default, when 

such balances are settled on a net basis. The Group actively manages its product mix to ensure that there is no 

significant concentration of credit risk. The credit risk for liquid funds and other short-term financial assets is 

considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings. 

 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of 

financial position: 

 

 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

Credit risk exposure by financial asset type:    

Reinsurance recoverable on outstanding claims 479,772  600,104 

Bank balances 302,877  230,759 

Insurance receivables 234,089  201,399 

Available-for-sale financial assets (debt securities) 180,885  189,182 

Other assets 105,667  111,693 

Receivables from related parties 252  940 

    

Total credit risk exposure 1,303,542  1,334,077 

 

Impaired financial assets 

As at 31 December 2016, the impaired insurance and reinsurance assets amount to QR 35.06 million (2015: QR 

36.06 million) and other assets amount to QR 19.93 million (2015: QR 20.32 million). The Group records all 

impairment allowances in separate impairment allowances accounts. A reconciliation of all the allowances for 

impairment losses are as follows: 

 

 2016  2015  2016  2015 

 Impairment on insurance and 

reinsurance assets 

 

 
Impairment on other 

receivables 

 QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

        

At 1 January 36,056  37,145  20,323  9,028 

Incurred through acquisition of a 

subsidiary -  -  -  11,295 

Impairment losses for the year 1,839  50  80  - 

Impairment recoveries during the year (2,840)  (1,139)  (471)  - 

        

At 31 December 35,055  36,056  19,932  20,323 
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41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due. The Group manages its liquidity 

needs by carefully monitoring scheduled payments for financial liabilities as well as cash-outflows due in day-to-

day business.  

 

The Group maintains cash and marketable securities to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 90-day periods. 

Funding for long-term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities 

and the ability to sell medium to long-term financial assets.  

 

Contractual maturity of the Group’s liabilities as at 31 December 2016 are summarised below: 

 

 Current Non-current 

Total  
Within 6 

months 

6 to 12 

months 

 

Total 

current 

1 to 5 

years 

More 

than 5 

years 

Total 

non-

current 

 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 

        

Insurance payables and other 

liabilities 223,776 157,536 381,312 15,545 - 15,545 396,857 

Derivative financial instruments  - 19,820 19,820 - - - 19,820 

Insurance contract liabilities 415,503 623,254 1,038,757 - - - 1,038,757 

Payables to related parties - 8,913 8,913 73,079 - 73,079 81,992 

Loans and borrowings 285,616 57,203 342,819 869,606 135,448 1,005,054 1,347,873 

        

 924,895 866,726 1,791,621 958,230 135,448 1,093,678 2,885,299 

 

Contractual maturity of the Group’s liabilities as at 31 December 2015 are summarised below: 

 

 Current Non-current 

Total  

Within 6 

months 

6 to 12 

months 

 

Total 

current 

1 to 5 

years 

More 

than 5 

years 

Total 

non-

current 

 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 

        

Insurance payables and other 

liabilities 258,530 157,568 416,098 26,630 - 26,630 442,728 

Derivative financial instruments  - 28,515 28,515 - - - 28,515 

Insurance contract liabilities 440,632 660,948 1,101,580 - - - 1,101,580 

Payables to related parties - 134 134 57,327 - 57,327 57,461 

Loans and borrowings 265,966 498,093 764,059 386,454 62,970 449,424 1,213,483 

        

 965,128 1,345,258 2,310,386 470,411 62,970 533,381 2,843,767 

 

The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ to the carrying values of the 

liabilities at the consolidated statement of financial position date. 
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41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

The table below summarises the expected utilisation or settlement of assets and liabilities. 

 

  Current   Non-current   2016  Current   Non-current  2015 

  QR '000   QR '000   QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

            

Property and equipment -   104,013  104,013  -  84,582  84,582 

Investment properties -   6,064,376  6,064,376  -  5,936,607  5,936,607 

Investment in associates -   345,225  345,225  -  324,749  324,749 

Financial assets:             

Available-for-sale financial assets -   1,016,777  1,016,777  -  1,057,424  1,057,424 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 164,129   -  164,129  167,618  -  167,618 

Receivables from related parties 252   -  252  940  -  940 

Insurance receivables 234,089   -  234,089  201,399  -  201,399 

Reinsurance assets 779,723   -  779,723  859,870  -  859,870 

Takaful participants' assets 160,095   136,400  296,495  144,247  136,754  281,001 

Other assets 182,366   60,643  243,009  160,013  104,866  264,879 

Cash and bank balances 303,287   -  303,287  231,202  -  231,202 

            

Total assets 1,823,941   7,727,434  9,551,375  1,765,289  7,644,982  9,410,271 

               

Insurance contract liabilities 1,038,757   -   1,038,757  1,101,580  -  1,101,580 

Financial liabilities:              

Loans and borrowings 311,751   958,900   1,270,651  746,075  426,515  1,172,590 

Derivative financial instruments 19,820   -   19,820  28,515  -  28,515 

Payables to related parties 8,913   73,079   81,992  134  57,327  57,461 

Insurance payables 231,279   -   231,279  241,185  -  241,185 

Employees' end-of-service benefits -   37,744   37,744  -  33,942  33,942 

Takaful participants' liabilities 295,559   936   296,495  280,915  86  281,001 

Other liabilities 150,033   15,545   165,578  174,913  26,630  201,543 

            

Total liabilities 2,056,112   1,086,204   3,142,316  2,573,317  544,500  3,117,817 
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41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices 

will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 

return. 
 

Currency risk 

Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in Qatari Riyals. Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from 

the Group's overseas investments. The Qatari Riyal is effectively pegged to the United States Dollar and thus 

currency risk occurs only in respect of currencies other than the United States Dollar. 
 

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into Qatari Riyals at the closing rate, are as 

follows: 
  

 2016  2015 

 Euro  Other  Euro  Other 

 QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

        

Financial assets 1,719  50,143  688  45,725 

        

Short-term exposure 1,719  50,143  688  45,725 

        

Financial assets -  -  6,767  - 

Financial liabilities (7,216)  -  (7,755)  - 

        

Long-term exposure (7,216)  -  (988)  - 
 

The impact that exchange rates fluctuations would have on the Group’s net results is considered to be not significant. 

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in key variables with all other variables held 

constant, showing the impact on profit and equity due to changes in the fair value of currency sensitive monetary 

assets and liabilities including insurance contract liabilities. 
 

   2016  2015 

 Changes in 

variables 

 Impact on 

profit 

 Impact on 

equity 

 Impact on 

profit 

 Impact on 

equity 

   QR '000  QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

Currency          

EUR +10%  (550)  (550)  (707)  (707) 

Others  +10%  789  789  2,288  2,288 

          

Total   239  239  1,581  1,581 

          

EUR -10%  550  550  707  707 

Others -10%  (789)  (789)  (2,288)  (2,288) 

          

Total   (239)  (239)  (1,581)  (1,581) 
 

Interest rate risk 

The Group's policy is to minimise interest rate risk exposures on term financing. The Group is exposed to changes 

in the market interest rates through its financial assets and liabilities which are subject to variable interest rates.  
 

 Carrying amounts 
 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

Fixed and variable rate instruments    

Financial assets 456,996  397,353 

    

Financial liabilities 1,290,471  1,201,105 
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41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

Market risk (continued) 

 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group 

does not designate interest rate swaps as hedging instruments under the fair value hedge accounting model. 

Therefore a change in interest rate at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 

 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

A change of 50 basis points in interest rate at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) profit or loss by 

the amount shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange 

rates, remain constant. 
 

 Profit or loss 
 50 bps 

increase 

 50 bps 

decrease 

 QR '000   QR '000 

31 December 2016    

Variable rate instruments (6,340)  6,340 

Interest rate swaps 2,087  (2,087) 

    

Cash flow sensitivity (net) (4,253)  4,253 

    

31 December 2015    

Variable rate instruments (5,853)  5,853 

Interest rate swaps 2,395  (2,395) 

    

Cash flow sensitivity (net) (3,458)  3,458 

 

Equity price risk  

The Group is exposed to other market price risk in respect of its listed equity securities and bonds. Equity price risk 

is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity and the value of 

individual stocks. The effect on equity due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices by (+/-) 10%, with all 

other variables held constant is as follows: 

 

  2016 2015 

  

Changes in 

variables 

 

Impact on 

profit 

Impact on other 

comprehensive 

income 

 

Impact  

on profit 

Impact on other 

comprehensive 

income 

  QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 QR '000 

      

Qatar Market +10% 16,149 78,300 16,520 79,346 

International Markets +10% 264 21,992 242 23,891 

      

Qatar Market -10% (16,149) (78,300) (16,520) (79,346) 

International Markets -10% (264) (21,992) (242) (23,891) 

 

Operational risk 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems and control failures, fraud and human errors, which can 

result in financial and reputation loss, and legal and regulatory consequences. The Group manages operational risk 

through appropriate controls, instituting segregation of duties and internal checks and balances, including internal 

audit and compliance. 
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41       RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

Capital management 
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 

and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the 

Group defines as profit for the year divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Group’s objectives when managing 

capital is: 

 

- To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for 

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

- To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing insurance and investment contracts commensurately 

with the level of risk. 
 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity excluding cash flow hedge reserve and 

cash and bank balances as presented on the face of the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s 

goal in capital management is to maintain a capital-to-overall financing structure ratio of 1:1. Capital for the 

reporting periods under review is summarized as follows: 

 

 2016   2015 

 QR '000   QR '000 

    

Equity  6,409,059  6,292,454 

Less: cash flow hedge reserve and cash and bank balances (283,467)  (202,687) 

    

Capital 6,125,592  6,089,767 

    

Equity excluding cash flow hedge reserve 6,428,879  6,320,969 

Add: loans and borrowings 1,270,651  1,172,590 

    

Overall financing 7,699,530  7,493,559 

    

Capital to overall financing 1:1.26  1:1.23 

 

 

42       CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

In the process of preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made use of a number of 

judgments relating to the application of accounting policies which are described in Note 2. Those which have the 

most significant effect on the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expense are listed below (apart 

from those involving estimations which are dealt with in Note 43). 

 

These judgments are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management believes that the following discussion addresses 

the accounting policies that require judgments. 

 

Classification of investments 

Quoted securities could be classified either as available-for-sale or at fair value through profit or loss. The Group 

invests substantially in quoted securities either locally or overseas and management has primarily decided to 

account for these investments based on their potential for long term growth rather than on the short term profit 

basis. Consequently, the majority of such investments are recognized as available-for-sale rather than at fair value 

through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as fair value through profit or loss where the assets are either 

held for trading or initially designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

 

  



Qatar General Insurance & Reinsurance Company PJSC 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

62 

 

 

42       CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group determines that available-for-sale financial assets are impaired when there has been a ‘significant’ or 

‘prolonged’ decline in the fair value below its cost. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ 

requires judgment and is assessed based on qualitative and quantitative factors, for each available-for-sale financial 

asset separately. In making a judgment on impairment, the Group evaluates among other factors, evidence of 

deterioration in the financial health of the entity, impact of delay in execution, industry and sector performance, 

changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows.  

 

 

43       KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES AND UNCERTAINTY 

 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimating uncertainty at the consolidated 

statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 

Claims made under insurance contracts 

Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred based 

on the estimated liability for compensation owed to contract holders or third parties damaged by the contract 

holders. Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated using the input of assessments for individual cases reported to 

the Group and management estimations for the claims incurred but not reported (IBNR). The method for making 

such estimates and for establishing the resulting liability is continually reviewed. Any difference between the actual 

claims and the provisions made are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of settlement.  

 

Unearned premiums 

The provision for unearned premiums represents that portion of premiums received or receivable that relates to 

risks that have not yet expired at the reporting date. The provision is recognised when contracts are entered into and 

premiums are charged, and is brought to account as premium income over the term of the contract in accordance 

with the pattern of insurance service provided under the contract. Unearned premiums are calculated on a daily pro 

rata basis. 

 

Impairment of insurance and other receivables  

An estimate of the collectible amount of insurance and other receivables is made when collection of the full amount 

is no longer probable. The determination of whether insurance and other receivables are impaired, involves the 

Group evaluating, the credit and liquidity position of the policyholders and the insurance companies, historical 

recovery rates including detailed investigations carried out during 2016 and feedback received from the legal 

department. The difference between the estimated collectible amount and the book amount is recognized as an 

expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any difference between the amounts actually collected in 

future periods and the amounts expected will be recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss at the 

time of collection. 

 

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation charges of property and equipment 

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related depreciation charges 

of its property and equipment. These estimates are determined after considering the expected usage of the asset, 

physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence. 

 

Liability adequacy tests 

At each consolidated statement of financial position date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the 

adequacy of insurance contract liabilities. The Group makes use of the best estimates of future contractual cash 

flows and claims handling and administration expenses, as well as investment income from the assets backing such 

liabilities in evaluating the adequacy of the liability. Any deficiency is immediately charged to the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.  

 

Interest rate swaps valuation 

The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on broker quotes. Those quotes are tested for reasonableness by 

discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest 

rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instruments and 

include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group and counterparty when appropriate.  
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43 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES AND UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED) 

 

Investment properties valuation 

The fair value of investment property is determined by independent real estate valuation experts with recent 

experience in the location and category of property being valued. The fair values are based on market values, being 

the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the valuation date between a willing buyer and 

a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein parties had each acted knowledgeably. 

 

 

44       RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 

 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the current year’s consolidated 

financial statements. However, such reclassifications did not have any effect on the net profit and equity of the 

comparative year. 

 

The reclassifications are summarised below: 

 

Consolidated statement of 

profit or loss 

After reclassification 

2015  

As previosly reported 

2015  

Effect of the 

reclassification 

 QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

      

Fees and commission income 22,823  21,695  1,128 

Other operating revenue 16,367  17,495  (1,128) 

      

 39,190  39,190  - 

      

      

Consolidated statement of 

financial position 

After reclassification 

2015  

As previosly reported 

2015  

Effect of the 

reclassification 

 QR '000  QR '000  QR '000 

      

Receivables from related parties 940  874  66 

Other assets 264,879  264,190  689 

Other liabilities (201,543)  (200,788)  (755) 

      

 64,276  64,276  - 

 


